# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-334

# RONNA MARTINO and RAYMOND MARTINO, her husband,

Petitioners,

-vs-

WAL-MART STORES, INC., an Arkansas corporation,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# **BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS**

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida

SCHULER & HALVORSON, P.A. 1615 Forum Place, Ste. 4-D West Palm Beach, FL 33401 and CARUSO, BURLINGTON, BOHN & COMPIANI, P.A. Suite 3A/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Petitioners

# **

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This case arises out of an incident that occurred at a Wal-Mart Store on State Road 7 in Royal Palm Beach, Florida on March 17, 1997 (R453). The Plaintiff, Ronna Martino,<sup>1</sup> went to the store to buy computer paper, but also bought a folding chair and two 40 lb. bags of salt for her water softener (T41-43). She put the merchandise in a cart and proceeded to the checkout line, where she put the computer paper and the chair on the counter (T43). She was expecting the cashier to scan the SKU number on the salt bags while they were in the cart (T69). However, the cashier told her to put everything on the counter so she could scan the SKU number code (T43). As a result of the close quarters in the checkout area, it was difficult for Martino to lift the salt bags onto the counter, so she lifted them onto the part of the cart where a child would sit (T44-45). However, that portion of the cart either bent or broke, pulling Martino's arm to the bottom of the cart where a piece of metal went through her wrist (T44-48). The cashier still wanted her to put the salt bags on the counter, but Martino could not do so at that point because her wrist was bleeding (T47-48). The cashier eventually scanned the SKU code, concluded the transaction, and Martino proceeded to the parking lot where a bystander helped her load the salt bags into her car (T48).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/For purposes of clarification, Plaintiff (singular) will refer to Ronna Martino and Plaintiffs (plural) will refer to both Ronna and Raymond Martino.

Upon arriving home, Martino called the Wal-Mart store and spoke to an assistant manager, Rick Ramos (T49-52). She told him what happened, and described where she left the cart in the parking lot so that he could retrieve it (T53). Ramos advised Martino to go to an emergency room for treatment, and then return to the store so that an incident report could be prepared (T52).

Pursuant to Ramos' instructions, after being treated at a hospital emergency room, Martino went back to the Wal-Mart store (T53-54). She showed Ramos exactly where the shopping cart was in the parking lot (T53-54). Martino testified that Ramos told her he would retrieve the cart and save it (T55). She also noted a video camera aimed at the checkout counter, so she also asked Ramos to save the videotape so they could see exactly what had happened to her (T54). An incident report was prepared and Martino was given a copy of it.

Ramos corroborated Martino's version of the events with respect to her calling him and returning to the store on the day of the incident (T81). However, he testified he could not recall whether she asked him to find the cart (T81). In his pretrial deposition, Ramos testified he could not recall whether he looked for the cart (T82). However, at trial he first testified that he looked for it and did not find it, but later testified that he probably did not look for the cart, that he probably had someone else look for it (T81-86). It is undisputed, however, that Wal-Mart did not preserve the shopping cart, nor did it preserve the videotape from the camera pointed at the checkout counters.

Two days after the incident, at Wal-Mart's request, Martino returned to the store to provide a recorded statement for its Risk Management Department (T56).

The only witness other than Martino and Ramos to testify at trial regarding this incident was the Wal-Mart cashier, Carolyn Nguyen. She denied that any accident occurred or that the cart malfunctioned, although she had some memory of the incident (T101-04). However, Nguyen claimed that Martino never lifted the salt bags, because she could read the SKU number from where she stood and enter them into the computer "because I'm the best cashier at Wal-Mart" (T103, 105).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Plaintiff's initial complaint against Wal-Mart contained one count alleging negligence against the Defendant for failing to properly maintain or inspect the shopping carts, and for the negligence of the cashier in instructing the Plaintiff to place the bags of salt on the counter instead of utilizing other measures to scan their SKU code (R1-5). Plaintiff's husband also alleged a claim for loss of consortium (R1-5).

Subsequently, Plaintiffs were granted leave to amend the complaint to allege special damages including, <u>inter alia</u>, expenses associated with her trip to the Mayo Clinic for medical treatment (R40-45). Wal-Mart filed an answer to the amended complaint denying the allegations of negligence and raising various affirmative defenses including, <u>inter alia</u>, comparative negligence (R67-69).

Subsequently, Plaintiffs filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint to add a count for spoliation of evidence, on the basis that crucial evidence, i.e., the cart and videotape, was not preserved by the Defendant (R317-18). The trial court granted leave to the Plaintiffs to make that amendment (R339). Plaintiffs added the spoliation claim as Count III, which contained extensive and specific allegations regarding the Plaintiff's discussions with Wal-Mart's assistant manager in which she requested that he retain the videotape from the checkout counter and the shopping cart (R313-16). Plaintiffs alleged that, despite her requests, Wal-Mart failed to preserve that evidence and had responded to discovery requests by stating that the videotape did not exist and the cart was not available (R313-16). Count III alleged that the condition of the shopping cart and the manner in which the accident occurred were critical issues in the case and the Defendant knew of Plaintiff's potential cause of action, thereby imposing on it a duty to preserve that evidence (R313-16). Plaintiffs specifically alleged that Wal-Mart knew of Plaintiffs' cause of action, since it arranged for a statement to be taken from Martino by its risk management service two days after the incident (R313-16).

Wal-Mart filed an Answer to the Second Amended Complaint and a Motion to Dismiss Count III on the basis that it failed to state a cause of action (R351-55, 356-58). A hearing was held on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, after which the trial judge granted the motion, on the rationale that Wal-Mart had no contractual or statutory duty to preserve the cart or videotape (R374, 375).

The case proceeded to a jury trial on Plaintiffs' negligence claims. The Plaintiffs filed a motion to bifurcate the trial as to liability and damages, because liability was hotly contested and that proceeding to address the Plaintiff's medical condition would require an additional three and a half to four days of trial (R499-500). The trial court granted the motion to bifurcate (R501).

Prior to the presentation of evidence, the successor trial judge ruled that it would <u>not</u> instruct the jury that it could infer that Wal-Mart's failure to produce the shopping cart or the videotape could give rise to a legal inference that such evidence would be adverse to it (T14). In fact, the trial judge stated he intended to give an instruction that, under the circumstances, Wal-Mart had no duty to preserve the cart (T19). The judge indicated he believed he was bound to do that based on the predecessor judge's ruling dismissing Plaintiffs' spoliation claim (T21). However, the court did permit Plaintiffs to present evidence relating to the mode of operation theory of negligence, rejecting Defendant's contention that it did not apply in this case (T22).

At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court granted Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict, ruling that the Plaintiffs failed to create an issue of fact regarding liability in the absence of the shopping cart or the videotape (T113). A judgment was entered in accordance with the Motion for Directed Verdict, and Plaintiffs timely appealed.

The issues on appeal before the Fourth District were 1) whether the trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiffs' spoliation claim on the ground that Wal-Mart had no duty to preserve either the cart or the videotape; and 2) whether the trial court erred in directing a verdict on Plaintiffs' negligence claim. The Fourth District issued an opinion which declined to address the duty issue, but instead rejected the tort of spoliation of evidence for "first parties," i.e., defendants against whom the evidence would have been offered, MARTINO v. WAL-MART STORES, INC., 28 <u>Fla.L.Weekly</u> D321 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA January 29, 2003). Based on that holding, the Fourth District acknowledged conflict with the Third District's decision in BONDU v. GURVICH, 473 So.2d 1307 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), <u>rev. den.</u>, 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986). It should be noted, however, that the Fourth District did not recede from its prior decisions which had recognized spoliation as a tort with respect to third parties.

The Fourth District also ruled that the negligent mode of operation theory was viable in this case. It concluded that in the trial court erred in directing a verdict on the Plaintiffs' negligence claim, since the jury could have inferred from the absence of the cart and videotape that that evidence would have been unfavorable to Wal-Mart's position.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/The Fourth District's opinion also states (28 <u>Fla.L.Weekly</u> at D323):

On appeal, the Martinos do not challenge the court's refusal to give either the requested adverse inference instruction or the burden of proof shifting presumption of negligence instruction formulated in [PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY v.] VALCIN, [507 So.2d 596 (Fla. (continued...)

The Plaintiffs have sought timely review in this Court based on the decisional conflict certified in the Fourth District's opinion.

<sup>2</sup>(...continued) 1987)].

This is a rather perplexing statement. The trial court directed a verdict on all of Plaintiffs' claims, so the jury was never instructed on the law in this case. Therefore, it would have been futile for the Plaintiffs to raise an issue regarding jury instructions on appeal. Plaintiffs note this because they do not wish to be foreclosed from seeking such jury instructions upon remand, if they are appropriate.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the Fourth District declined to recognize a tort cause of action for "first party" spoliation of evidence, that is, where the spoliation is done by a defendant against whom that evidence would be used in the lawsuit. The Fourth District relied heavily on an analysis of the California Supreme Court, without recognizing that there are significant distinctions between the jurisprudence of each state. California has a statute that imposes criminal penalties for the spoliation of evidence relevant to a court case, while Florida does not. California has a standard jury instruction authorizing the jury to reach adverse inferences against a spoliator, whereas under the Fourth District's decision no such jury instruction is available under Florida law. As a result, the rationale for the decision, that there are other remedies/sanctions available for spoliation, is questionable.

The Fourth District declined to determine the issue of whether Wal-Mart had a duty to preserve the shopping cart and videotape as evidence. As a result, its conclusion that there were other remedies and sanctions available for spoliation is undermined. The only "remedy" it authorized to these Plaintiffs is that their attorney could argue to the jury that they could infer that the lost evidence would have been harmful to Wal-Mart's position. That is an ineffective remedy, and does nothing to punish or deter the spoliation. Without resolving the duty issue, the Fourth District could not reasonably analyze the availability of other remedies or sanctions. While a court clearly has authority to impose sanctions for discovery misconduct, there are significant questions regarding whether it has the inherent authority to sanction a party for pre-litigation conduct. Even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that such inherent authority exists, under Florida law a court's inherent authority is to be exercised with restraint and only in situations of necessity. The Fourth District's analysis here appears to be that a tort remedy of spoliation should not be accepted unless it is necessary, and that the inherent authority of the court should be a favored basis for sanctions. That reasoning is erroneous, and raises significant concerns regarding the constitutional restraints on the exercise of a court's inherent authority.

The recognition of a tort for spoliation of evidence is consistent with Florida jurisprudence, as demonstrated by the fact that each of the three district courts that have addressed it, have adopted it. Even the Fourth District accepts the tort when the spoliation is done by third parties. That acceptance necessarily undermines its analysis, since it rejects the tort in the situation where the spoliator has the greatest motivation to engage in the misconduct. Moreover, the acceptance of the tort as to first parties is consistent with the access to courts provisions of the Florida constitution, as well as the constitutional right to trial by jury. It also provides an additional means of deterrence, since if the spoliation is sufficiently egregious, punitive damages could be available.

The concerns that recognition of this tort would result in endless litigation is unfounded, especially in light of the fact that the torts of malicious prosecution and abuse of process have long been part of Florida jurisprudence, without generating that problem. Moreover, finality is not an end in itself; justice is. Spoliation is a pernicious form of misconduct that undermines the very fundamental basis of a judicial system. No remedy or sanction for it should be rejected without compelling reasons. The Fourth District's decision presents no such compelling circumstances, and therefore it should be quashed and the spoliation tort recognized consistent with the Third District's decision in BONDU, <u>supra</u>.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## **Standard of Review**

The issue whether to accept a tort for spoliation of evidence is a question of law subject to <u>de novo</u> review, RYKIEL v. RYKIEL, 838 So.2d 508 (Fla. 2003).

#### **OUESTION PRESENTED**

# THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN REFUSING TO RECOGNIZE A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR "FIRST PARTY" SPOLIATION OF EVIDENCE.

# **Introduction**

Any analysis of spoliation of evidence must begin with the unassailable premise that such conduct is universally condemned by the courts and requires an effective judicial response. Such conduct is contemptuous of the legal system, inherently unethical, and fundamentally unfair to adverse parties. The judicial response to it must achieve three objectives: 1) remedy the unfairness caused by the spoliation; 2) punish the spoliator; and 3) deter future spoliation, <u>see</u> ROSENBLIT v. ZIMMERMAN, 766 A.2d 749, 754 (N.J. 2001), citing, STEFFEN NOLTE, THE SPOLIATION TORT: AN APPROACH TO UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES, 26 St. Mary's L.I. 351, 355-56 (1995).

The question of the appropriate means to achieve those objectives has generated a wide divergence of judicial opinions, especially on the issue of whether spoliation of evidence can constitute an independent tort.<sup>3</sup> While many commentators divide the courts into those which recognize a tort for spoliation and those which do not, that is Some jurisdictions have declined to adopt any tort for an oversimplification. spoliation, e.g., CEDARS-SINAI MEDICAL CENTER v. SUPERIOR COURT. 954 P.2d 511 (Cal. 1998); DOWDLE BUTANE GAS CO, INC. v. MOORE, 831 So.2d 1124 (Miss. 2002); MONSANTO CO. v. REED, 950 S.W.2d 811 (Ky. 1997); some have approved a tort action when the spoliation is intentional, but not where it is negligent, see HAZEN v. MUNICIPALITY OF ANCHORAGE, 71 8 P.2d 456 (Alaska 1986); SMITH v. HOWARD JOHNSON CO., INC., 615 N.E.2d 1037 (Ohio 1993); COLEMAN v. EDDY POTASH, INC., 905 P.2d 185 (N.M. 1995), overruled in part, on other grounds, DELGADO v. PHELPS DODGE CHINO, INC., 34 P.3d 1148 (N.M. 2001); some have recognized a tort for negligent spoliation, HOLMES v. AMEREX RENT-A-CAR, 710 A.2d 846 (D.C. Ct. App. 1998); THOMPSON v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/There is an equally vast array of law review articles on the subject, with one treatise listing some of them with the comment, "Much ink has been spilled discussing the subject of spoliation of evidence." FEDERAL COURTS AUTHORITY TO IMPOSE SANCTIONS FOR PRELITIGATION OR PRE-ORDER SPOLIATION OF EVIDENCE, 156 F.R.D. 313, n.4, Iain. D. Johnson, 1994.

OWENSBY, 704 N.E.2d 134 (Ind. App. 1998); and some, like the Fourth District in the case <u>sub judice</u>, have accepted the cause of action against "third parties" but not against "first parties" (the latter being defined as the defendant against whom the evidence would have been utilized), OLIVER v. STINSON LUMBER CO., 993 P.2d 11 (Mont. 1999). There are also courts that have concluded that no new tort need be recognized, since a spoliation claim can be made within the parameters of existing causes of action, <u>see</u> BOYD v. TRAVELERS INS. CO., 652 N.E.2d 267 (Ill. 1995) (action for negligent spoliation can be stated under existing negligence law); SMITH v. ATKINSON, 771 So.2d 429 (Ala. 2000) (recognizing claim against third party for spoliation of evidence "under the traditional doctrine of negligence"); ROSENBLIT v. ZIMMERMAN, <u>supra</u>, (recognizing spoliation of evidence as a subspecies of the tort of fraudulent concealment).

It is important to note that the courts rejecting a tort remedy for spoliation do not conclude that spoliation is not tortious conduct, nor that there is any legal impediment to recognizing such a cause of action. They have done so based on prudential concerns, such as a belief in the adequacy of other remedies/sanctions, a concern for finality of adjudication, a perceived uncertainty of the fact of harm, and even a cost/benefit analysis, see CEDAR-SINAI, supra.<sup>4</sup>

## **The Fourth District's Decision**

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the Fourth District chose to follow the analysis in CEDAR-SINAI, <u>supra</u>, without noting significant differences in California jurisprudence that relate to the availability and adequacy of other deterrents and remedies. Moreover, the Fourth District never resolved the issue of whether Wal-Mart had a duty to preserve the videotape and cart in this case, even though that determination is critical to a proper analysis of available sanctions and remedies. Apparently, under the Fourth District's reasoning, the only "remedy" available to this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>/It should be noted that the cost/benefit analysis expressly engaged in by the court in CEDARS-SINAI was not based on any specific objective data. Opponents of the tort of spoliation make much of the fact that California was the first jurisdiction to expressly recognize an independent tort for spoliation, <u>see SMITH v. SUPERIOR COURT</u>, 198 Cal.Rptr. 829 (Cal. App. 1984); but later rejected that tort in CEDARS-SINAI, <u>supra</u>. It is important to note, however, that CEDARS-SINAI did not cite any statistical or even anecdotal experience with either a flood of litigation or abuse of the spoliation claim subsequent to the SMITH decision as a basis for its rejection of the tort. Rather, it relied on generalities and predictions to support its cost/benefit analysis. Thus, the California experience was not that of a jurisdiction that actually found the tort of spoliation to be burdensome or prone to abuse, but rather was simply a situation in which an intermediate appellate court made a ruling based on a legal analysis that the Supreme Court subsequently rejected.

Plaintiff is that her attorney can argue to the jurors that they may infer, from the absence of the cart and videotape, that that evidence would have been adverse to Wal-Mart. Respectfully, that does not remedy, punish, nor deter spoliation. Morever, the Fourth District's recognition of a tort claim for "third party" spoliation further undermines the rationale of its decision. That is, the court accepts the cause of action when a third party commits spoliation, yet rejects it in first party cases where the spoliator has the greatest motivation, and will reap the greatest reward, for its misconduct.

## **<u>Criminal Penalties and Jury Instructions</u>**

The Fourth District relied heavily on the CEDARS-SINAI rationale that there are other effective means to remedy and deter spoliation which render recognition of a tort claim to be unnecessary. However, there are significant distinctions between the jurisprudence of California and that of Florida, which were overlooked by the Fourth District. For example, California punishes and deters spoliation by making it a criminal offense, <u>see</u> Calif. Penal Code §135, quoted in CEDARS-SINAI, 954 P.2d at 518. Florida does not have such a provision; the only similar statute is limited in application to criminal cases and certain governmental proceedings, §918.13, <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. Thus, Florida does not have that deterrent to spoliation.

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