IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Lower Tribunal No. **4D01-2693**

Case No. SC03-334

RONNA MARTINO and RAYMOND MARTINO,

Petitioners,

v.

WAL-MART STORES, INC.,

Respondent.	
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WAL-MART STORES, INC.	

MARLOW, CONNELL, VALERIUS, ABRAMS, ADLER, NEWMAN &LEWIS

4000 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Suite 570 Miami, FL 33146 Tel: 305-446-0500

Facsimile: 305-446-3667

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

portion, where the jury would consider that independent tort claim and, therefore, would necessarily be reconsidering its deliberations in the first case, and clearly this would not only be confusing, but would lead to inconsistent results. *Id.* The only other way the independent tort could be handled is by having a separate proceeding completely which really would be a retrial within a trial.

Based on the aforementioned reasons and public policies, California joined the majority of jurisdictions in the United States and the majority of state Supreme Courts to address the issue and found no independent tort of spoliation of evidence necessary.

A final consideration regarding the adoption of an independent tort of spoliation of evidence is that such a tort could violate a third party's private property rights and stop or deter the third party (or even a first party) from taking subsequent remedial measures. According to Martino, this Court should adopt a vastly expansive, independent tort; turning every accident scene into a crime scene. In other words, in order to avoid tort liability, every slip and fall, every cut, every car accident, etc., would have to become some type of untouchable scene and everything "relevant" to a potential litigation would have to be preserved, regardless of the injury. A homeowner who has a guest visiting, and the guest trips in a hole in the front yard, is potentially for intentional spoliation of evidence, if the homeowner fills the hole in, so

that no one else is hurt. In the present case, Martino herself testified that the reason she asked Wal-Mart to locate the cart was so that it could be repaired and no one else would be injured by it. She wanted the videotape, if one existed, simply to prove her minor injury at Wal-Mart, so that she could put in a claim in for her E.R. expenses.

A subsequent remedial measure, while part of the public policy of every jurisdiction in the United States, would actually render the third party, or even the first party liable for spoliation of evidence.

While hundreds of thousands minor injuries occur every day, the independent tort of spoliation of evidence would require that anything which could potentially become relevant evidence, if litigation could be brought, would have to be preserved by any entity, first party or third party, if that evidence might be used in some future litigation. While no one has calculated the cost to private business, homeowners, etc., common sense would conclude that the preservation costs would be astronomical and, of course, the cost would have to be passed on to the consumer; while the homeowner, tenant, etc., would simply have to bear the risk of preserving the hole in the front yard, the slippery floor tile in the kitchen, etc., until the injured party either sues or the statute of limitations runs. As pointed out by the Supreme Courts in Texas and California, the public policy reasons and legal considerations for not recognizing an independent tort of spoliation of evidence applies to both first and third parties.

Therefore, most courts do not make the decision on whether the tort would apply based on whether it is a first or third party involved. The majority of jurisdictions in the United States find no need to recognize a tort of spoliation of evidence and Florida should follow suit. *Trevino, supra, Cedars-Sinai, supra; Timbertech Engineered Building Products v. The Home Insurance Company*, 55 P.3d 952 (Nev. 2002) (no independent tort exists for spoliation of evidence regardless of whether the alleged spoliation is committed by a first or third party); *Nickols v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 6 P.3d 300 (Alaska 2000); *Meyn v. State*, 594 N.W.2d 31 (Iowa 1999); *Austin v. Consolidation Coal Co.*, 501 S.E. 2d 161 (Va. 1998); *See also, cases collected at* 101 A.L.R.5th 61 sec. 4(b).

C. <u>Elements of Spoliation</u>

1. Duty

When spoliation prejudices a non-spoliating party, trial courts can impose sanctions or submit a presumption that levels the evidentiary playing field and compensates the non-spoliating party. *Turner v. Hudson Transit Lines Inc.*, 142 F.R.D. 68, 75 (S.D.N.Y. 1991); *Bachmeier v. Wallwork Truck Centers*, 507 N.W.2d 527, 533 (N.D. 1993); *Trevino, supra* at 954. If an issue exists regarding improperly destroyed evidence, the effected party may either move for sanctions or request a spoliation presumption instruction and the trial court determines which remedy is

justified under the facts and circumstances of each case. *Trevino*, concurring opinion at 954-955.

In Florida, the duty to preserve evidence can arise by contract, by statute or by a properly served discovery request after a lawsuit has been filed. Silhan v. Allstate Ins. Co., 236 F.Supp.2d 1303, 1309 (N.D.Fla. 2002); Bondu, supra at 1312; Miller v. Allstate Ins. Co., 573 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Strasser v. Yalamanchi, 783 So.2d 1087, 1093-1094 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). Some courts have interpreted two of the Fourth District's decision to impose a duty to preserve evidence in negligent spoliation cases to situations where litigation has not been filed. Silhan, supra at 1309; citing St. Mary's Hosp. Inc. v. Brinson, 685 So.2d 33 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Hagopian v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 788 So.2d 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). The Fifth District, in Judge Cobb's concurring opinion, has also suggested that a duty may arise from "other special circumstances". Torres v. Matsushita Electric Corp., 762 So.2d 1014, 1019 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); citing Boyd v. Travelers, supra. The Silhan court pointed out that no Florida court has adopted Judge Cobb's broad and expansive duty to preserve evidence and such an interpretation pushes the duty requirement to the extreme, because it is essentially impossible for everyone to hold onto every piece of potential evidence, just because there is a possibility that litigation could arise sometime in the future. Silhan at 1309. Rather, the more reasonable and prudent approach would be for a duty to arise when the possessor of the evidence is informed by the plaintiff that a lawsuit will be or is filed.

Most cases involving spoliation of evidence involve sometime of statutory or regulatory duty to preserve the evidence, with many of the cases involving lost medical records or reports, like this Court's decision in *Public Health Trust of Dade County* v. Valcin, 507 So.2d 596 (Fla. 1987); DeLaughter v. Lawrence County Hosp., 601 So.2d 818 (Miss. 1992). To date, in Florida there is no common law duty to preserve evidence absent some form of notice of intent to file a lawsuit. Silhan, supra at 1312 (the Fourth District's decision in *Brinson* could have been grounded upon a common law duty to preserve evidence due to the foreseeability of future litigation and noting that the Brinson spoliation claim was based on statutory and administrative duties of the hospital to preserve the anaesthesia equipment; and pointing out that the Third District had rejected a common law duty to preserve evidence absent *formal notice* to the alleged spoliator of an intent to file a lawsuit in Pennsylvania Lumberman's Mutual Insurance Co. v. Florida Power & Light Co., 724 So.2d 629, 630 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

Martino asserts a common law duty to preserve evidence based on the Fourth's District decision in *Hagopian*, *supra* and that this duty to preserve evidence applies to retail establishments like Wal-Mart. The duty in *Hagopian* arose when the

Preparation of the incident report, coupled with Publix's refusal to give it to Mrs. Hagopian based on work-product privilege grounds. *Hagopian, supra* at 1090. The combination of these two factors evidenced Publix's anticipation of litigation by Mrs. Hagopian thus requiring it to preserve the bottle. *Id.* At best *Hagopian* could be read to impose a duty to preserve evidence when a party recognizes that an adverse suit is imminent. *Id.*; *see also, Silhan, supra* at 1313.

The other Florida cases have been based on a much clearer duty to preserve the evidence, such as a statutory duty, or some type of contractual arrangement to preserve the evidence. *Bondu*, *supra*, (the hospital owed several administrative and statutory duties to maintain the records of the surgery); *Miller*, (Allstate orally contracted with the plaintiff to preserve the wrecked vehicle); *Continental*, *supra*, (Continental in possession of the wrecked car, but it orally contracted to preserve it); *Brown v. City of Delray Beach*, 652 So. 2d 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), (the defendant orally contracted to preserve evidence which was in its possession). *Builder's Square*, *Inc. v. Shaw*, 755 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), (the Fourth District affirmed a jury verdict against Builder's Square for the independent tort of spoliation of evidence).

Several courts have recognized the need for a duty to preserve evidence prelitigation. *Blinzler v. Marriott International, Inc.*, 81 F.3d 1148, 1158-1159 (1st Cir.

1996); Dillon v. Nissan Motor Co., 986 F.2d 263, 267 (8th Cir. 1993); Fire Insurance Exchange v. Zenith Radio Corp., 747 P.2d 911, 913-914 (Nev. 1987). For a prelitigation duty to preserve evidence, the question is when is the party on notice of the potential litigation to trigger such a duty. Some courts have found that notice of potential litigation exists when litigation is "reasonably foreseeable because of circumstances are such that they are likely to give rise to future litigation and that a reasonable factfinder would conclude the party in possession of the evidence which was on notice of the evidence was relevant to likely litigation; or the party in possession of the evidence knew or should known that the destroyed evidence was relevant to pending, imminent, or reasonably foreseeable litigation, etc., Trevino concurring opinion at 955-956 and cases cited there. The concurring opinion in Trevino suggests that in spoliation cases, a party should be found to be on notice of potential litigation when after reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the party in possession of the evidence either actually anticipated litigation, or reasonable person in the party's position would have anticipated litigation. *Id.* at 956. There may be circumstances where a party may not reasonably foresee litigation until the party is actually notified of the opposing party's intent to file suit, but there may be times when certain independent facts will put a party on notice of the potential for litigation. *Id*.

In the present case, Martino wanted the videotape so that she could prove she as injured at Wal-Mart and could make a claim against Wal-Mart for her emergency room treatment; and she asked Wal-Mart to find the cart so that no one else would be injured on it. Martino's expressed testimony was that she had absolutely no idea that she sustained any severe injury whatsoever. She did not file suit until two years later and, therefore, there were no facts and circumstances which would impose any duty on Wal-Mart to preserve the cart; or the videotape if, in fact, it actually existed.

In a case closely on point, *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Johnson*, 2002 WL 32098152 (Tex. 2003), the Supreme Court of Texas found that the plaintiff had failed to show that the disposal of the evidence occurred after Wal-Mart knew or should have known there was a substantial chance there would be litigation and that the evidence would be material to the action; which is necessary in Texas to establish a foundation for the submission of a spoliation instruction. The Court found that there had not been a sufficient foundation showing that the party who destroyed the evidence had notice both of the potential claim and of the evidence's potential relevance. *Id. citing, National Tank Co. v. Brotherton*, 851 S.W.2d 193, 204 (Tex. 1993)(stating an objective test from when litigation may be reasonably anticipated).

The trial Court found that the evidence was undisputed that neither Wal-Mart nor the plaintiff knew on the day of the accident that his injury might be serious or that

Johnson might pursue legal action. *Id.* at *4. Even if Mr. Johnson had learned that he had injured his neck, nothing in the record suggested that he had informed Wal-Mart of his claim prior to filing suit or that Wal-Mart learned of his claim at trial in any other way. *Id.* Therefore, the Court found it was an abuse of discretion to use a spoliation instruction, because Johnson had failed to establish that Wal-Mart had a duty to preserve the decorative reindeer which injured him. *Id.*

In the present case, Martino's accident is virtually identical for the purposes of evaluating a duty to preserve evidence as Johnsons. Martino suffered a minor injury to her wrist at Wal-Mart; she was able to continue her shopping; she unload all of her purchases, including lifting and moving the two forty pound bags of salt in car twice more; and at some later point in time she called Wal-Mart to inform it that her wrist was bleeding. Wal-Mart suggested that she go to the emergency room and then return to the store to fill out an incident report, which is what she did. There is nothing about the circumstances of Martino's accident that indicated that, in fact, she would later have a substantial injury to her arm, not directly related to the minor wound she suffered on the day of the accident, and the injury to her arm was completely unknown to Martino as it was to Wal-Mart. At trial, her recovery was to be based on the severe injury to her arm, which was not the known injury to her wrist on the day of the accident. Therefore, there was absolutely nothing about the circumstances of Martino's injury that would put Wal-Mart on notice that she was planning to sue Wal-Mart. Just as in *Johnson*, there was no duty imposed on Wal-Mart to preserve evidence and Mrs. Martino was not entitled to any jury instruction on spoliation of evidence. This Court should not adopt a per se common law duty to preserve evidence for all pretrial and post-trial incidents. Rather, any duty analysis must be based on the review of the facts and circumstances in each case and only if it is established that a duty to preserve evidence existed should the issue of spoliation be considered.

2. <u>Prejudice</u>

Martino has suggested that evidence that could be relevant or have an effect on the lawsuit must be preserved and the absence of this evidence does not have to substantial impair a plaintiff's claim in order for the plaintiff to be entitled to a remedy for the spoliation. This ignores the fact, however, that one of the main reasons for allowing remedies for spoliation is that the spoliation has prejudiced the non-spoliating party because it was deprived of an opportunity to fully and successfully present its claim. *Herman, supra* at 315; *Headley, infra*. The Third District in *Herman* expressly rejected the same argument made by Martino that she did not have to show that she was significantly impaired, or prejudiced by the lack of the evidence, but rather she claims she needs to show only that she was "hindered" in presenting her

claim. *Id.* The Third District expressly rejected that argument setting forth the six requirements to prove the independent tort of spoliation, the fourth requirement being "significant impairment in the ability to prove the lawsuit". *Id.* Since Mrs. Herman did not suffer a significant impairment in her ability to prove her underlying lawsuit, the court held she had no cause of cause of action for the destruction of evidence. *Id.* To date, no court in Florida has recognized a lesser standard for establishing spoliation than that set forward in *Herman*.

Other considerations for the Court are whether the destroyed evidence was cumulative of other competent evidence that could be used in its place and whether the evidence supports the key issues in the case. *Trevino*, concurring opinion at 958; *Dillon, supra* at 267-268; *Schmid v. Milwaukee Electric Tool Corp.*, 13 F.3d 76, 79 (3rd Cir. 1994)(pointing out that in design defect cases, a plaintiff may be only minimally prejudiced by the destruction of the actual product); *Battocchi v. Washington Hospital Center*, 581 A.2d 759, 767 (D.C. 1990)(when the loss or destruction of evidence is not intentional or reckless, the issue is not strictly "spoliation", but rather a failure to preserve the evidence; a factfinder may draw an inference adverse to a party who fails to preserve relevant evidence when his exclusive control is well-established; we reject the rule that a party's failure in a civil case to preserve evidence regardless of the degree of fault, requires the court to instruct the

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